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PRAISE FOR BRUCE


“For all those of us who grew up on the Jersey Shore, chasing Bruce and the band every weekend: the chase is over. It’s all here. Everything we didn’t know then—we’re surprised to learn now. It’s close, it’s intimate—the master of introspection allows some full-on inspection of his life.”

—Brian Williams, NBC News

 “There are many things I could and should be doing right now, but I am not . . . I am reading and rereading this book. Why did you do this to me?”

—Jon Stewart

 “If there is anyone who writes about modern musicians better than Carlin does, I don’t know who it could possibly be.”

 —H. G. Bissinger, author of Friday Night Lights

 “Bruce delivers. . . . Carlin gets across why Mr. Springsteen has meant so much, for so long, to so many people.”

—The New York Times

 “Do we need another Springsteen biography? The answer, here, is yes, thanks in large part to Carlin’s tireless reporting, which helps straighten out some of the lore-laden stories of Springsteen’s early years in New Jersey, and further illuminates his later struggles with depression.”

—The Boston Globe

 “Interviews with bandmates, family members, and exes paint an unflinching portrait of the rock icon . . . Dives into Springsteen’s personal life in unprecedented depth . . . No previous biographer has uncovered as much about Springsteen’s family.”

—Rolling Stone

“There are probably more books about Bruce Springsteen than there are about any other rock star of his generation. But until one comes out with the words ‘By Bruce Springsteen’ on the cover, Bruce will be the definitive one.”

 —The Newark Star-Ledger

“Rock biographer (Peter Ames Carlin) delivers a straight-on, rockin’ and rollin’ life of the Jersey youngster who sold his soul to rock and roll the night he saw Elvis on The Ed Sullivan Show in 1957. Drawing on exclusive interviews with members of the E Street Band . . . unrestricted conversations with Springsteen’s family . . . and Springsteen himself . . . Carlin gives Springsteen the definitive treatment, and this is by far the best of the many books about the rock and roller . . .”

 —Publishers Weekly, starred review

“Carlin’s exhaustively researched portrait of rock and roll’s working-class hero delivers everything a fan could wish for.”

—People

“The notoriously private Springsteen lends enough of his voice to Carlin’s biography to enhance its credibility. . . . Unless Springsteen decides to pen a memoir, this is as close as we’ll get to Springsteen unmasked.”

—Atlanta Journal-Constitution
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For Sarah Carlin Ames—“This is not a dark ride.”



PROLOGUE:
THE GUT BOMB KING

THE FIRST TIME ANYONE CALLED Bruce Springsteen the Boss was in the early weeks of 1971, in the dining room of a chilly apartment on the edge of downtown Asbury Park. Once a beauty parlor, the ground-floor flat was then the home for Steven Van Zandt, Albee Tellone, and John Lyon, all musicians in their early twenties and already veterans of the club circuit on the Jersey Shore. Their house became a nexus in Asbury Park’s rock scene. When they threw open the door for their weekly Monopoly games the place filled quickly. Garry was a regular, so was Big Bad Bobby, Danny, Davey, and a dozen others.

Bruce had a particular talent for the rogue brand of Monopoly they played. In this version, the game’s actual rules barely figured in the action. The real gaming took place between the players’ turns, when they could build alliances, negotiate settlements, offer bribes, and resort to trickery, coercion, and what an outsider might think of as cheating. And this was where Bruce excelled, due both to his shifty powers of persuasion and the leverage provided by the sacks of candy bars, Ring Dings, and Pepsis he brought with him. Funny what a young man, when hungry and presented with two cream-filled cupcakes of sheer chemical deliciousness, will agree to when it’s 2 a.m. and he’s really, really hungry.

And so Bruce won enough Monopoly games to inspire the others to dub him the Gut Bomb King. This lasted only until Bruce, who also had a talent for inventing nicknames, came up with a new one for himself: the Boss.

That stuck. “I remember people calling him that and not taking it seriously,” recalls fellow bandleader Steve Van Zandt. “Not ’til I started calling him the Boss. Then they took it seriously because I was a boss, too. So when I started calling him the Boss the vibe was, ‘If Stevie’s doing it, there’s something to this!’”

Hearing this now, Bruce cackles cheerily. “I’ll leave you with that,” is all he says.

For three years, Bruce’s semi-secret nickname didn’t leave the tiny loop of his band and their friends. All of whom understood how seriously Bruce took such things. Because one of the privileges of being a Boss is controlling who can and can’t call you that. Definitely the band and the roadies. Also some friends, but only the ones who bore their own Bruce-bestowed nicknames. Southside, Miami, Albany Al, and so on. Which made it all the more outrageous when the Boss got wrenched into the public domain.

It happened in 1974, when the crowds got bigger and the records began to sell. Bruce’s Jersey Shore mystique grew into a point of journalistic intrigue, and when one writer heard a crew member drop a casual “Hey, Boss!” into a conversation the game was up. By the time Born to Run broke through in 1975 the Boss had become something else entirely. An honorific. A championship title. Another piece of Bruce sacrificed to his own ambition.

Bruce didn’t complain in public but he made his feelings clear as early as the mid-1970s by revising the lyrics of his best-loved party song, “Rosalita”: “You don’t have to call me lieutenant, Rosie/Just don’t ever call me Boss!”

Because there were rules. Including the crucial one about not acknowledging the existence of the rules. Because the Boss isn’t supposed to be seen compelling others to put him on a pedestal. As far as you know he’s just there, his power and authority as inevitable as the tides. So don’t even ask, because that’s when Bruce will cock his head and give you that vaguely annoyed look.

“Rules? I don’t have any particular strict rules about it.”

Ask again in a slightly different way and his vaguely annoyed expression gains clarity.

“There was no exalted reasoning behind it,” Bruce says with purposeful evenness. “That was just because I paid people’s salary and it was literally like, ‘What are we going to do? Hmm, I don’t know, somebody better ask the Boss.’ So really, it was just a name you would use wherever you were working.”

So the Boss is a generic term? With no larger significance or accompanying ethic? Meaning that anyone, present company included, can call him Boss whenever and wherever?

For a moment Bruce just stares.

“Well, for you to call me that would be ridiculous,” he says. “Besides that, it wouldn’t necessarily be right.”

He throws back a little tequila and shrugs again.

“And this is still the first I’ve heard about rules.”

Call him Bruce.



ONE


THE PLACE I LOVED THE MOST

THE TRUCK COULDN’T HAVE BEEN moving fast. Not down a sleepy residential street like McLean. If it had just turned in from Route 79—known in Freehold, New Jersey, as South Street—it would have been going even more slowly, since no seven-ton truck could round a 90-degree corner at a fast clip. But the truck had the height and breadth to all but fill the side road and sweep the other cars, bikes, and pedestrians to the side until it grumbled past. Assuming the other folks were paying attention to the road ahead.

The five-year-old girl on the tricycle had other things on her mind. She might have been racing her friend to the Lewis Oil gas station on the corner. Or maybe she was simply a child at play, feeling the spring in the air on a late afternoon in April 1927.

Either way, Virginia Springsteen didn’t see the truck coming. If she heard the driver’s panicked honk when she veered into the road, she didn’t have time to react. The driver stomped hard on the brakes, but by then it didn’t matter. He heard, and felt, a terrible thump. Alerted by the screams of the neighbors, the girl’s parents rushed outside and found their little daughter unconscious but still breathing, They rushed her first to the office of Dr. George G. Reynolds, then to Long Branch Hospital, more than thirty minutes east of Freehold. And that’s where Virginia Springsteen died.

The mourning began immediately. Family members, friends, and neighbors streamed to the little house on Randolph Street to comfort the girl’s parents. Fred Springsteen, a twenty-seven-year-old technician at the Freehold Electrical Shop downtown, kept his hands in his pockets and spoke quietly. But his twenty-eight-year-old wife, Alice, could not contain herself. Hair frazzled and eyes veined by grief, she sat helplessly as her body clutched with sobs. She could barely look at Virginia’s toddler brother, Douglas. The boy’s father couldn’t be much help either, given the pall of his own mourning and the overwhelming needs of his distraught wife. So in the immediate aftermath of the tragedy virtually all of the care and feeding of the twenty-month-old boy fell to Alice’s sisters, Anna and Jane. Eventually the others eased back into their ordinary lives. But the approach and passing of summer did nothing to ease Alice’s grief.

She could take no comfort in the clutching arms of her small son. Nearing his second birthday in August the boy grew dirty and scrawny enough to require an intervention. Alice’s sisters came to gather his clothes, crib, and toys and took the toddler to live with his aunt Jane Cashion and her family until his parents were well enough to care for him again. Two to three years passed before Alice and Fred asked to be reunited with their son. He went home soon afterward, but Virginia’s spirit continued to hover in Alice’s vision. When Alice gazed at her son, she always seemed to be seeing something else; the absence of the one thing she had loved the most and lost so heedlessly.

A semblance of family structure restored, the Springsteen home still ran according to its residents’ imprecise sense of reality. No longer employed by the Freehold Electrical Shop, Fred worked at home, sifting through mountains of abandoned electronics in order to repair or build radios he would later sell to the migrant farmworkers camped on the fringe of town. Alice, who never worked, moved according to her internal currents. If she didn’t feel like getting up in the morning, she didn’t. If Doug didn’t want to go to school in the morning, she let him stay in bed. Cleaning and home repair ceased to be priorities. The walls shed curls of paint. The plastered kitchen ceiling fell off in chunks. With a single kerosene burner to heat the entire house, winters inside were Siberian. For Douglas, whose DNA came richly entwined with darker threads, the peeling wallpaper and crumbling windowsills framed his growing sense of life and the world. No matter where he was, no matter what he was doing, he would always be looking out through the fractured windows of 87 Randolph Street.

• • •

Doug Springsteen grew to be a shy but spirited teenager matriculating at Freehold High School. He loved baseball, especially when he was with his first cousin and best friend, Dave “Dim” Cashion, an ace pitcher and first baseman. Cashion was already considered one of the best players to ever emerge from Freehold. Off the diamond, the cousins passed the hours shooting pool at the small game rooms tucked between the stores, barbershops, and news stores clustering Freehold’s central intersection at South and Main Streets. Cashion, who was seven years Doug’s senior, launched his baseball career just after leaving school in 1936. He spent the next five years working his way from the local amateur and semipro leagues all the way into the major league farm system. He got there just in time for World War II to shutter the leagues and redirect him into the US Army.

Raised by parents for whom education amounted to a long distraction from real life, Doug quit his studies at Freehold Regional after his freshman year ended in 1941, taking an entry-level job as a bottom-rung laborer (his official title was creel boy) in Freehold’s thriving Karagheusian rug mill. He kept that job until June 1943, when his eighteenth birthday made him eligible to join the army. Shipped to Europe in the midst of the war, Doug drove an equipment truck. Back in Freehold following the war’s conclusion in 1945, Doug took it easy and lived off the $20 in veteran’s pay he received from the government each month.

As Fred and Alice made clear, academic and professional ambition were not priorities, if only because of their absolute disinterest in achievement—to say nothing of books, culture, or anything that gestured beyond the here-and-now. So if Doug wanted to live in their house and slouch through his life, that suited them perfectly. He was, after all, his parents’ child.

Doug barely made a gesture toward adult life until his cousin Ann Cashion (Dim’s younger sister) came by offering a night out. She had a friend named Adele Zerilli he might like to meet. So how about a double date? Doug shrugged and said sure. A few nights later the foursome were sitting in a cafe together, making polite talk while Doug snuck glances at the bewitchingly talkative dark-haired girl sitting across the table. “I couldn’t get rid of him after that,” Adele says now. “Then he says he wants to marry me. I said, ‘You don’t have a job!’ He said ‘Well, if you marry me, I’ll get a job.’ ” She shakes her head and laughs.

“Oh, God. What I got into after that.”

Married on February 22, 1947, Douglas and Adele Springsteen rented a small apartment in the Jerseyville neighborhood on the eastern edge of Freehold and experienced the postwar boom along with much of America. True to his word, Doug had landed a job on the factory floor of the Ford auto plant in nearby Edison. Adele already had a full-time job as a secretary for a real estate lawyer. A baby was on the way by the start of 1949, and the boy emerged at 10:50 p.m. on the evening of September 23, taking his first breath in Long Branch Hospital (since renamed Monmouth Medical Center), where his father’s sister had breathed her last twenty-two years earlier. He had brown hair and brown eyes, weighed in at 6.6 pounds, and was declared healthy in every respect. His twenty-four-year-old parents named him Bruce Frederick Springsteen and though they had their own home, instructed the nurse to write into the birth certificate that their home address in Freehold was 87 Randolph Street.

When his wife and child were discharged from the hospital a week later, Doug took them to his parents’ house and handed little Bruce to his mother. She held him close, cooing gently at the first new life that had entered their home since the long ago death of Virginia. When Alice peered into his eyes, her own tired face came alight. Almost as if she were seeing the glimmer that had once glowed from inside her own lost daughter. She clutched the boy to herself and for the longest time would not let him go.

She must have loved you to pieces, Bruce heard someone say not long ago. He laughed darkly. “To pieces,” he said, “would be correct.”

• • •

Spending his first months in his parents’ small apartment, Bruce ate, slept, stirred, and cried like every other baby. And yet the blood in his veins carried traces of forebears whose lives describe American history going all the way back to the early seventeenth century, when Casper Springsteen and wife Geertje left Holland to build their future in the New World. Casper didn’t survive very long,1 but a son who had remained in Holland followed in 1652, and Joosten Springsteen launched generations of Springsteens, including a branch that drifted to the farmlands of Monmouth County, New Jersey, at some point in the mid-eighteenth century. After the Revolutionary War broke out in 1775, John Springsteen left his farm to serve as a private in the Monmouth County militia, fighting multiple battles during a three-year hitch that ended in 1779. Alexander Springsteen, also of Monmouth County, joined the Union army in 1862, serving as a private with the New Jersey Infantry until the end of the Civil War in 1865. Throughout, and into the twentieth century, the Springsteens worked as farm laborers and, with the growth of industrialization in Freehold, factory workers.

Alice Springsteen’s family were Irish immigrants from Kildare who came to America in 1850, settling in the farmlands of Monmouth County, where they worked the fields and, in some cases, pushed their families up another rung or two on the economic ladder. Christopher Garrity, the patriarch of the family, sent for his wife and children in 1853. His daughter Ann met a neighbor, a laborer named John Fitzgibbon, soon after and married him in 1856. Two years later he invested the $127.50 it took to buy a family home at 87 Mulberry Street2, a street in a growing neighborhood of working-class homes just south of Freehold’s center. Ann Garrity marked their place by planting a beech tree seedling she had brought to America from Kildare. The tree flourished, as did Ann and John Fitzgibbon, who had two children in the years before John went to serve in the Civil War. As a sergeant in the Union army, John earned a chest full of ribbons for his courage on the battlefields of Fredericksburg and Charlottesville, Virginia, then returned home to father another seven children before dying in 1872. Remarried to a shoemaker named Patrick Farrell, Ann delivered a set of twins, including a girl named Jennie, whose own daughter, Alice, eventually married a young electronics worker named Fred Springsteen.

If only every member of the family could have grown as straight and strong as Ann Garrity’s beech tree. But as fate and genetics must have it, both sides of Fred and Alice Springsteen’s lineage came with a shadow history of fractured souls. The drinkers and the failures, the wild-eyed, the ones who crumbled inside of themselves until they vanished altogether. These were the relatives who lived in rooms you didn’t enter. Their stories were the ones that mustn’t be told. They inspired the silence that both secreted and concentrated the poison in the family blood. Doug could already sense the venom creeping within himself. Which may have had something to do with why he had fallen so deeply for Adele Zerilli, whose indomitable spirit would protect and nurture him for the rest of his life.

The youngest of the three daughters born to Anthony and Adelina, Italian immigrants who had arrived as teenagers (separately) at Ellis Island during the first years of the twentieth century, Adele spent her childhood in the Bay Ridge neighborhood at the southern tip of Brooklyn. The family’s luxe home came courtesy of Anthony, who had learned English on the fly and quickly earned his American citizenship and a law school degree. Taking a job in a law firm his uncle had founded to specialize in real estate, investments, and the like, Anthony’s bluster grew along with the firm’s success in the 1920s. Short but broad chested, possessed of a big voice, stylish wardrobe, and charisma to match, the thriving attorney moved through the world like a weather front, altering the barometric pressure of any room he entered. Adelina, on the other hand, pursued the life of an old-fashioned Italian lady, wearing traditional dresses, surrounding herself with reminders of the Old World, and refusing to utter more than a small handful of English words even as her daughters grew to be modern American girls.

When the Depression hit in 1929, Anthony wished he could go back in time, too. Reduced to moving his family into an apartment, he borrowed some of his remaining clients’ cash to keep his own investments afloat. Then he borrowed more. Then he borrowed too much. Meanwhile, Anthony had other indulgences, too, including an affair with a secretary who eventually claimed his heart. Anthony’s marriage ended first, and then the federal agents came knocking. “I guess the word is embezzlement,” Adele says.

Then the word was convicted, then sentenced. And as Anthony prepared to spend a few years away, he bought an inexpensive old farmhouse on sixty acres near the edge of Freehold and had it fixed up so his family could live as comfortably, if inexpensively, as possible while he did his bit in the grim caverns of Sing Sing prison. Only by then, Adelina’s broken marriage and abrupt financial descent had unstrung the observant Catholic so thoroughly that she decided to let her daughters make their own household while she took refuge with relatives. Told to provide for her younger sisters, the recent high school grad Dora took a job as a waitress and kept her sisters on a short leash. Weekly visits from an aunt who always came bearing a suitcase full of spaghetti and tinned tuna helped make ends meet. The girls could also count on the help of the man their father had introduced as George Washington, an African-American day laborer he hired to serve as his daughters’ chauffeur and handyman. And though his name wasn’t really George Washington (that was apparently Anthony’s invention), and he was a grown man in his thirties, he became a regular presence in the home. “All we knew about him was that he could dance,” Adele says. According to middle sister Eda, the action heated up at seven o’clock when the nightly Your Hit Parade came on the radio. That’s when they turned up the volume, pulled aside the living room rug, and kicked up their heels. “That’s when we learned how to dance,” she continues. “It sounds crazy, I know, but that’s how it went.” The vision makes Adele’s son laugh out loud. “They used to go to the balls, and the soldiers were on leave, and they went to dance, dance, dance,” Bruce says. “They had it all going on.”

Dora and Eda had sided with their mother in the divorce, while Adele was officially neutral but sympathetic enough to heed her father’s request to accompany his girlfriend on the journey to Ossining, New York, so she would have the right to participate in Sing Sing’s family visiting hours. When Dora got wind of her sister’s jailhouse visits, she filed papers with the Monmouth County courts to bring it to a stop. And when Anthony convinced Adele to join his beloved secretary on another trip anyway, Dora had her sister put on probation. “It was stupid, because I was a baby!” Adele says. So she must have been terribly aggrieved, yes? “Nope. I just couldn’t go anymore, and that was that.” When daughter Ginny contradicts her—“She never got over it”—Adele admits it instantly: “I still have the letter!”

Either way, the dancing never stopped. And even when the Zerilli girls became adults and took on jobs, careers, and husbands, were made to confront hardship, and even face down tragedy, the sound of music always got their spirits up, always pulled them to their feet, swept aside the carpet, and carried them away. “To this day,” Bruce says. “You get the three of those girls, and they’ll still dance. It was a big part of their lives. Still is.”

• • •

Adele became pregnant again five months into Bruce’s life, and when the Springsteens’ second child—a girl they named Virginia in tribute to Doug’s lost sister—arrived in early 1951, it didn’t take long for Doug and Adele to realize that their apartment was no longer large enough to contain their growing family. Without the money to rent a larger place, they had no choice but to retreat to 87 Randolph Street, searching for space among the broken radio parts, the unsteady furniture, and the drafty corners of the living room. And then there was Alice, so joyous in having her beloved Bruce in the house she could barely contain her excitement. Virginia, on the other hand, barely registered in her vision. “They were sick people, but what do I know when I’m so young?” Adele says. “I thought I was doing the best thing calling her Virginia, but it wasn’t.” Besides, Alice and Fred had already settled on their favorite. “With Bruce, he could do no wrong.”

From the day the family moved in, Alice catered to her young grandson like a sun king. She washed and folded his clothes, then laid out each morning’s wardrobe on his freshly made bed. When Adele and Doug were out during the day, both Alice and Fred kept the toddler fed, warm, entertained, and always within reach. Ginny, on the other hand, was lucky to get much more than the occasional glance. Quickly frustrated by her grandparents’ disinterest, two-year-old Ginny demanded to be left with other adults during the day. Adele: “She didn’t want to stay with them, so she never did.”

“That was very caught up with the role I was intended to play,” Bruce says. “To replace the lost child. So that made it a very complicated sort of affection and one that wasn’t completely mine. We [Ginny and Bruce] were very symbolic, which is an enormous burden on a young child. And that became a problem for everybody.” Consumed by his grandparents’ unyielding attention, Bruce assumed that they, and not his parents, were his primary caregivers. “It was very emotionally incestuous, and a lot of parental roles got crossed. Who you answered to and the different kind of responsibilities you had were very confusing for a young kid. Your allegiances were being pulled in different ways. Then we were beyond the point of no return.”

Bruce remembers his grandparents’ house as a strange, austere place, its cracked walls adding to an atmosphere already clotted with loss, memory, and regret. “The dead daughter was a big presence,” he says. “Her portrait was on the wall, always front and center.” Fred and Alice trooped everyone to the St. Rose of Lima cemetery each week to touch her stone and pick weeds and errant grass from the little girl’s grave. “That graveyard,” Ginny says, “was like our playground. We were there all the time.” Death was a regular presence, particularly with so many older relatives on the block. “We went to a lot of wakes,” Bruce says. “You got used to seeing dead people lying around.”

Death was one thing. But for Alice, whose Old World Catholicism came larded with superstition and other terrors, eternal damnation was more difficult to confront. Grandma Alice sensed the presence of Satan in lightning and thunder, so the first flash would send her into the throes of panic. Within seconds she scooped up the children and sprinted the block to the home of her sister Jane, who kept bottles of holy water to protect her family against such attacks. “People would huddle together,” Bruce recalls. “You’d have near hysteria.”

When Fred lost the use of his left arm to a serious stroke in the late 1950s, he brought Bruce along to help troll for cast-off radios and electronic parts in the neighborhood trash cans. The time together deepened the bond between grandfather and grandson, and drew the young boy deeper into the eccentric rhythms of his grandparents’ home. So while Adele’s work as a secretary kept her on a normal schedule, the rest of the family—including Doug, already riding the currents of intermittent employment and long stretches at loose ends—abandoned clocks altogether. “There were no rules,” Bruce says. “I was living life like I’ve never heard of another child living it, to be honest with you.” At four years old, the boy took to staying up late into the night. Rising from his bed, padding out to the living room, flipping through his picture books, playing with his toys, and watching television. “At three thirty in the morning, the whole house was asleep and I’d be watching ‘The Star-Spangled Banner’ and then seeing the test pattern come on. And I’m talking before the first grade.” Many years later, when Bruce finished school and took to living by the musician’s up-all-night schedule, he had an epiphany: “I just returned to the life I’d had as a five-year-old. It was like, ‘Hey! All that school stuff was a mistake!’ It was a return to how I lived as a very small child, which was upside down, but that’s the way it was.”

When Adele read to him each night, Bruce made a nightly ritual of a picture book called Brave Cowboy Bill. Written by Kathryn and Byron Jackson, illustrated by Richard Scarry (in a style not the least bit reminiscent of his Busy, Busy World books), and published in 1950, Brave Cowboy Bill became such a fixation for Bruce that Adele could recite it from memory on her eightieth birthday in 2005. Central character Bill, who looks to be about six years old, storms gently across the frontier, rounding up cattle rustlers, killing deer and elk for his dinner, befriending Indians—albeit at gunpoint (“We’ll be friends, he told them firmly . . .”)—kills a bear, dominates every competition in a rodeo, and then stays up all night singing songs by his campfire before coming home to dream of the frontier where “No one ever argued with the daring Cowboy Bill.” All of which serves as an intriguing glimpse into the aspirational fantasies of a boy from a home governed by such a skewed set of expectations.3

When Bruce became old enough to play outside with the other neighborhood kids, his visits to their well-kept family homes both confused and bothered him. Suddenly he realized that his friends’ bedroom walls were freshly painted, their windows didn’t rattle in the frames, and the ceilings in their kitchens stayed securely above their heads. All the adults seemed dependable; steady jobs, regular paychecks, and no edge of incipient hysteria. “I loved my grandparents so deeply, but they were very outsider,” he says. “There was an element of guilt and shame, but then I felt bad about being embarrassed.”

• • •

With Bruce moving toward school age in 1956, Adele signed her son up to start first grade at the St. Rose of Lima’s parochial school in the fall. To the extent that Doug had an opinion, he kept it to himself. But Fred and particularly Alice had other plans for their grandson. Bruce, they declared, didn’t have to go to school at all if he didn’t want to go. Fred hadn’t spent much time in school, and neither had Doug. So why make such a fuss getting an education Bruce wouldn’t need? Adele, whose father had insisted his daughters all finish high school, at the very least, was having none of it. “He had to go to school,” she says. “But [Fred and Alice] wouldn’t let him.” Already feeling shoved aside in her son’s life, and more than tired of playing the dutiful wife in such a topsy-turvy environment, Adele made her stand. “I said to my husband, ‘We’ve gotta get out of here,’” she says. If Doug argued about it, he didn’t win. Hearing that a pair of cousins were about to leave their rented duplex apartment at 39 1/2 Institute Street, just three and a half blocks east of Fred and Alice’s home, they took over the lease and moved in almost immediately.

It was, Bruce says now, the only way his mother could give her family anything like a normal life. But for Bruce, that realization was a long time in coming. As a six-year-old, he says, the abrupt change was devastating. “It was terrible for me at the time because my grandparents had become my de facto parents. So I was basically removed from my family home.” The boy’s anxiety eased a bit thanks to his daily visits to his grandparents for after-school supervision. It also didn’t hurt that the two-bedroom, two-floor apartment on Institute marked a significant step up in the family’s residential standards. “We had heat!” says Bruce, who shared the larger of the home’s two bedrooms with Ginny. Doug and Adele made do in a cramped room that seemed closer to a closet than a real bedroom. Worse, the house had no water heater, which made dishwashing, and especially bathing in the upstairs tub, complex operations. As Bruce recalls, bathing was not one of his more regular habits.

Already shaken by the abrupt change in his family’s home and parental structure, Bruce reported for school in an especially vulnerable, and angry, frame of mind. The nuns’ strict rules and work requirements first confused, then enraged the boy. “If you grow up in a home where no one goes to work and no one is coming home, the clock is never relevant,” he says. “And suddenly when someone asks you to do something, and says you have twenty minutes to do it, that’s going to make you really angry. Because you don’t know from twenty minutes.” Just as Bruce also had no idea how to sit still in class, absorb the nuns’ lessons, or see their pinched faces and ruler-wielding hands as anything more, or less, than earthly visions of a fuming God.

Bruce did what he could to fit in. He pulled on his uniform in the morning, then marched proudly to school with Adele clutching his hand. “He had his head held high when he walked in there, and I thought, ‘Good,’” Adele says. But what was going on during the school day? To see for herself, Adele took a break from work and stood across from the playground to check on her son during recess. “And there he is, against the fence, all by himself, not playing with anybody. It was so sad.” For Bruce, his tendency for social isolation came as naturally as his secret desire to be at the center of everything.

“Companionship is a natural human impulse, but I didn’t make social connections easily,” he says. “I was a loner, just to myself, and I had gotten used to it.” No matter where he was, his mind was meandering somewhere else. “I had a very vibrant internal life. I seemed to be drawn to other things, different than what the subjects were supposed to be at a given moment. Like how the light was hitting a wall. Or how the stones felt under your feet. Someone might be talking about a normal subject, but I’m sort of zeroing in on that.”

Bruce had his small circle of friends, mostly the boys he’d tossed balls and pushed trucks with in the yards around Randolph Street. His closest pal among them was Bobby Duncan, a slightly younger boy he’d befriended when they were both preschoolers. To Duncan, the young Bruce was a regular kid: passionate about baseball, content to spend an afternoon riding bikes to the candy store on Main Street, then pedaling back to his grandparents’ house to watch the children’s shows on TV, read Archie comics, or both. Duncan also noticed his friend’s differences. “He was like the lone rebel back then. He didn’t care what people thought.” Which presented such a striking distinction from the typical grade school boys that the other kids in the neighborhood were often at a loss. Particularly when they grew up enough to battle for stature in the traditional arena of sandlot fistfights. “I grew up on a black block, but we were surrounded by blocks of white families,” says David Blackwell, who lived a few blocks away from Bruce’s street. “We all became friends because we were all fighting. I had fights with all my friends, white and black. But something about Bruce . . . I don’t think you can find anyone at Freehold who tried to fight him.” If only because, as David’s brother, Richard, remembers, the Springsteen kid either ignored or was somehow immune to the childhood taunts that sparked battle. “You could be sayin’ some shit about his mother, and he’d just shrug, say ‘Okay!’ and keep on walking,” he says. “Nothin’ you can do about that. You gotta respect it. Let that boy go about his business.”

Bruce’s odd yet stubborn ways made him a juicy target for the nuns and their vaguely medieval humiliations and for the classmates who tittered at the odd boy’s hapless flailing. Bruce incited enough institutional fury to end more than a few of his school days in the principal’s office, where he waited for hours before Adele could come claim him. Faced down by his parents at the end of the day, Bruce always had the same explanation for his behavior. “He didn’t want to go back to Catholic school,” Adele says. “But I made him do it, and now I’m sorry I did. I should have known he was different.”4

• • •

Douglas Springsteen spent most of those years huddled inside himself, handsome in the brooding fashion of actor John Garfield, but too lost in his own thoughts to find a connection to the world humming just outside his kitchen window. Often unable to focus on workplace tasks, Doug drifted from the Ford factory to stints as a Pinkerton security guard and taxi driver, to a year or two stamping out obscure industrial doo-dads at the nearby M&Q Plastics factory, to a particularly unhappy few months as a guard at Freehold’s small jail, to occasional spurts of truck driving. The jobs were often bracketed by long periods of unemployment, the days spent mostly alone at the kitchen table, smoking cigarettes and gazing into nothing.

Doug felt more comfortable with his cousin and closest friend, Dim Cashion, who had pivoted from his years in the farm system of Major League Baseball to a position as coach for Little League teams and a player-coach in New Jersey’s semipro leagues. But even while Dim’s talent and charisma helped him lead generations of Freehold boys to the joys of baseball, it also came with the spiraling undertow of manic depression. The seesaw of black-eyed despair into neon auroras of unhinged energy could trigger fits of often uncontrollable behavior. “Kitchen cabinets came off the wall, telephones came off the wall, state troopers were called,” says Dim’s youngest brother, Glenn Cashion. And while Doug and Dim didn’t always get along, and sometimes went months without seeing each other (despite living within a block of each others’ homes), the cousins still passed their empty hours together in the same pool halls, still drank beer together, always linked by the same history and the same genetic information.

Eager to feel connected to other kids—and maybe even create a bond with his father at the same time—Bruce threw himself into the Indians, his team in Freehold’s Little League, coming off the bench to play right field. Bruce was perhaps more enthusiastic about baseball than he was talented. Jimmy Leon (now Mavroleon), who shared teams with Bruce for years, still recalls the time when a high fly ball floated across the summer sky toward his teammate’s outstretched glove. Money in the bank. “But then it just hit him in the head. So it was kind of like that.” Still, Bruce was proud to be a part—no matter how small—of the Indians’ undefeated season in 1961. Which became slightly less perfect when the team lost the championship series by coming up short in two straight games against the Cardinals, a team coached by Freehold barber Barney DiBenedetto.5

But no matter how sweet the boyhood moments, Bruce still had his old man’s fragile psyche to deal with. “You couldn’t access him, you couldn’t get to him, period,” says Bruce, recalling his many attempts to talk to his father. “You’d get forty seconds in, and you know that thing that happens when it’s not happening? That would happen.” When dinner was over and the dishes were done, the kitchen became Doug’s solitary kingdom. With the lights out and the table holding only a can of beer, a pack of cigarettes, a lighter, and an ashtray, Doug passed the hours alone in the darkness.

• • •

In February 1962 Adele gave birth to her and Douglas’s third child, a daughter they named Pamela. The baby’s arrival required the family to pick up stakes and move to a slightly larger duplex at 68 South Street, in a white house (equipped with both a furnace and running hot water) nestled up against a Sinclair filling station. Absent the burdens of history and expectation, baby Pam’s sweet presence was strong enough to evaporate the gloomy fatalism that defined so much of Doug’s family experience. The thirteen-year-old Bruce proved an especially doting big brother, so while it was officially Ginny’s responsibility to keep the baby changed, fed, and peaceful, Bruce was, by all accounts, more attuned to the baby’s needs. No matter what else Bruce was doing, the sound of his baby sister crying triggered immediate action. “I really took care of her,” Bruce says. “I did everything, the diapers and all that. So we were very close when she was very young.”

One day in 1962 Fred and Alice were chatting with Adele in her new South Street kitchen, visiting with the baby, and waiting for Doug to come home from his night shift at the plastics plant. Saying he felt a little under the weather, Fred went upstairs to take a nap. When Adele went up to check on him an hour later, the old man was cold and still; obviously dead. Running downstairs to tell Alice the terrible news, the older lady responded with a nod. Deciding to hold off from doing anything else until Doug came home, they sat together in the kitchen until the door opened. Doug responded with the same absence of emotion his mother had shown. He paused for a moment, said, “Oh, okay,” checked his pockets for coins, and then went to a pay phone to call the funeral home and alert a few relatives. When Bruce heard the news after coming home from school, he became hysterical. “It was the end of the world,” he says. “But we didn’t talk about my grandfather’s death. He was probably about sixty-two, sixty-three, or sixty-five when he went. I was quite close to him, but you never know how to react as a child. I remember the funeral, the wake, and all those things. But it wasn’t like today. Everyone was still . . . just different.”

With the Randolph Street house close to being condemned, the widowed Alice moved in with her son’s family. She spent most of her days helping care for Pam and also took the opportunity to shower more adoration over her fourteen-year-old grandson. Once again, she took to laying out his clothes in the morning, making his favorite treats, and glowing at his every word and gesture. Then Adele was playing the game too, making certain that Bruce had the one bedroom that was actually a suite, given its attached sunroom. And when Bruce realized that the sunroom had enough space for a real pool table, Adele and Doug scrimped for the money, then drove to another town in a snowstorm in order to bring it home in time for Christmas morning.

• • •

Alice had been hiding it for weeks, maybe for months: something was wrong with her insides. But without a fortune to pay the bills, what was the point of asking anyone to help? Adele took her to the hospital, and when the doctors concluded that Alice had cancer, they took her into their ward and kept her for the next three months, running the older woman through a litany of treatments, all debilitating, and many of them experimental. “I think they treated her like a guinea pig because she had no money or insurance,” Adele says.

When she finally came home, Alice was weak at first and then rallied. She seemed nearly back to her old self when Pam, then three years old, woke up in the middle of the night and asked her mother if it was okay for her to sleep in her Aggie’s bed. Adele thought it a bit strange—Pam had never asked to do that before. But she nodded and saw her daughter pad down the hall and slip through the bedroom door at the end of the hall. “I remember going into her room, her moving over and lifting the covers to let me in,” Pam says.

They both fell asleep that way, the little girl cuddled up against the older woman’s body, just as little Virginia had done so many years ago. Whatever Alice thought or dreamed about the past during her drift toward sleep will never be known. “When I woke up the next morning, I shook her to get up, and she didn’t move,” Pam says. Bruce, headed to school, had no idea. Bruce: “I’m sure I went through the room when they were there, only about fifteen feet from my own bedroom. That was a life changer; the end of the world for me. I don’t remember anyone making a huge deal about (my grandfather), but it was different when my grandmother died. My dad was really upset.”

The untended 110-year-old house on Randolph Street trembled on its long-fractured foundation. Vacated by Alice in 1962, it stood for only a few more months before the bulldozers rolled in. The house’s weathered framework fell into a cloud of dust, then became a chalky pile of detritus hauled away in a truck. Once cleared, the property was rolled flat and paved over, cast for eternity as a part of the St. Rose church’s parking lot. Bruce refused to look. “I didn’t go back for years after it was knocked down,” he says. “I couldn’t go back and see the space. It was very, very primal for me.” The stillness in the air, the desperate love of his grandparents, the adoration he’d earned simply by being himself. This was the seat of his consciousness. His roots as deep and entangled as the ones anchoring the Irish beech still in the soil out front.

“I thought back,” Bruce says of the warped house that never stopped feeling like home, “and realized it was the place I loved the most.”



TWO


A NEW KIND OF MAN

WHAT BRUCE REMEMBERS MOST VIVIDLY is the way the man looked. The way his every step, gesture, smile, and sneer set him apart from everything you were supposed to think, feel, or know about modern America. “A child wants nothing but to upset the world, and so there it was being done. It’s like sort of tearing your house apart and reconfiguring it according to your dreams and your imagination. You knew that this man was doing that.”

He’s talking about Elvis Presley, adding just a little retroactive analysis to the perspective of the grade schooler he was in 1957, gazing up from the rug just in front of his family’s little black-and-white television. As Bruce recalls, he was eight years old1 and completely unsuspecting, since his main interest in The Ed Sullivan Show revolved around the comics, jugglers, and puppets who generally performed on CBS’s Sunday night variety show. Adele Springsteen was a regular viewer and also, as it turned out, something of an Elvis fan. “In those days,” she says, “we always danced when Elvis Presley came on.” Nothing could keep the electric vision of Presley’s wildly rebellious image from imprinting itself onto the boy’s consciousness. “He was actually the forerunner for a new kind of man,” Bruce says. “Everyone changed their ideas about everything after that. About race, about sex, about gender descriptions, what you could look like, what you could wear. It was outrageous. It’s a fantastic thing to be.

“It was an early signal that you could just be different,” Bruce continues. “And that the difference you may have already been feeling was not necessarily a handicap; was not necessarily inappropriate, wrong, or unsuitable. Suddenly there was some cachet just through your own uniqueness.” Obviously a powerful message to a kid who had long since sensed the chasm between the other kids’ families and the life he’d been born into. Better yet, Elvis said all that with an attitude that made it clear he wasn’t about to entertain dissent, let alone complaints.

“He had this enormous, balls-out, unchallenged authority,” Bruce says. And he did it with the insouciant joy of the world’s naughtiest boy. “It looked like he was playing, like a child is drawn to play. It looked like so much fun. Imagine throwing out all the self-consciousness that’s sort of like a blanket over you. What would happen if you threw all that off for two and a half minutes, three minutes, as a performer! It was an enormous key that unlocked your imagination and your heart and soul.”2

Music always called to him, from the speaker of the radio Adele kept on top of the refrigerator in the family kitchen, and, even as a toddler, from the spinet piano his aunt Dora had in her living room. “He’d come running in and put his hands on the keys,” she recalls. But once he glimpsed Elvis, Bruce needed a guitar. He went straight to Adele, who loved the idea of her son making music, and within days, she had Bruce in hand, walking him to Mike Diehl’s music store to rent an acoustic instrument for her quivering son. She also signed him up for lessons. But Diehl’s formal style of teaching—music theory first, then scales, then at some too-distant-for-an-eight-year-old point, chords and songs, required far more patience than he could muster. As Bruce told Steve Van Zandt many years later, being subjected to yet another set of strict rules was the last thing he was looking for. “I need to make a horrific noise right now.” Stuck between that frustration and his own inability to coax anything resembling music out of the instrument by himself, Bruce’s interest faltered quickly. The guitar went back to Diehl’s music store, and that, it seemed, was that.

Except that now his ears were open. And it was easy to find and fall in love with new music, given Adele’s appetite for pop and her ear for a danceable tune. Still in the thrall of Elvis, Bruce scraped together sixty-nine cents to buy a four-song EP (extended play 45) of Elvis’s biggest hits, only performed by a guy named Dusty Rhodes. Who clearly wasn’t Elvis but, as far as Bruce was concerned, that didn’t matter. “I could put it on, and it made me remember Elvis,” he says. “It was close enough to give me a piece of what I was looking for.” That, and Adele’s radio, held him for the next few years, although Bruce also had an ear for novelty records, particularly Sheb Wooley’s 1958 smash “The Purple People Eater,” which he played ceaselessly on the local luncheonette’s jukebox, along with British skiffle3 star Lonnie Donegan’s “Does Your Chewing Gum Lose Its Flavor (On the Bedpost Overnight).” Both Bruce and Ginny were so crazy for Chubby Checker’s “The Twist” that in July 1961 Adele piled them into the car and took them to Atlantic City to see him perform as part of a Dick Clark package tour that also included Freddy Cannon, the Shirelles, and Bobby Rydell. And while both kids were eager to see the Steel Pier’s diving horse, they were, Adele recalls, both mesmerized by Checker’s star turn. He could dance, he could sing, he could play their favorite song exactly the way it sounded on the radio. And the crowd stood up and cheered! What could be better than that?

Because he lived halfway between New York and Philadelphia, Bruce’s transistor radio pulled in a wide array of radio stations, and when he tuned into the Philly rhythm and blues stations, a new horizon opened up. One of his favorites—thanks most immediately to his family’s new address—was called “South Street,” a doo-wop-style party tune by the Philadelphia-bred singing group the Orlons, whose male singer Stephen Caldwell boasted a tummy-rumbling double baritone voice. “Meet me on South Street,” they sang, “the hippest street in town!” Did it matter to Bruce that Freehold’s South Street was the furthest thing from the Orlons’ minds? Of course not. “But it gave some magical cachet to the address, so I went out and bought it,” Bruce reminisced with Van Zandt. Then came Dick Dale’s proto-psychedelic surf guitar tune “Miserlou,” the razored harmonies of the Four Seasons, the white-guys-on-a-front-porch folk groups on the TV show Hootenanny, and then the California vision of the Beach Boys, strolling the golden coast to the gorgeously wrought songs of Brian Wilson.

In early 1964 Bruce was riding in the front seat of his mother’s car when “I Want to Hold Your Hand” beamed out of the radio. “It’s those old stories, like when you hear something and your hair stands on end,” Bruce reminisced to Van Zandt. “It’s having some strange and voodoo-like effect on you.” Leaping out of the car, Bruce sprinted to a nearby bowling alley that he knew had a telephone booth, slammed his way into the box, and spun the number of the girl he was dating. “Have you heard of the Beatles? Have you heard this song?”

“It stopped your day when it hit,” he said on Van Zandt’s syndicated Underground Garage radio show in 2011. “Just the sound of it. And you didn’t even know what they looked like.” Then the Beatles were shaking their astonishing mops on The Ed Sullivan Show, and then they were dominating the radio dial, with a wave of similarly tressed countrymen marching on their Cuban boot heels. When summer came, Bruce invested a few weeks painting his aunt Dora’s house, then used $18 of his proceeds to buy an acoustic guitar he’d seen in the window of the Western Auto store4 on Main Street. Next he bought himself a copy of the 100 Greatest American Folk Songs songbook and committed himself to mastering the instrument.

It didn’t come easily, even as a fourteen-year-old. It took a week or two for Bruce to figure out (thanks to his slightly older cousin Frankie Bruno) that the guitar was far enough out of tune to be a completely different instrument. And even when it was tuned correctly, the auto store guitar wasn’t what you’d call user-friendly. “The neck,” Bruce recalls, “was basically razor wire on a two-by-four.” Something about its sound, or perhaps Bruce’s deepening fixation on the instrument, abraded his father’s fragile nerves.

“I’d be with Bruce up in his room, holding up the music book while he was learning chords,” his friend Bobby Duncan says. “And we’d hear his father yelling upstairs, ‘I don’t wanna hear that goddamn thing!’” Even the dull murmur of an acoustic guitar being played behind a closed door on a different floor of the house? “His dad hated that stuff,” Duncan says. “But his mom would do anything for him.” Which Bruce knew full well in December when he took Adele by the hand and led her to Caiazzo’s Music, near the Karagheusian Rug Mill on the corner of Jackson and Center Streets, and showed her the wickedly thin black-and-gold electric guitar gleaming in the window. Built in Japan, Kent guitars didn’t register on the professional musician’s list of must-haves. But it had the shimmering look, the jagged edges, and the electrified volume this young rocker craved. So he knew it was expensive, but if it were possible, somehow, it was the only thing he could ever imagine wanting again.

Adele took another look at the $60 price tag, and a few days later made another visit to the Household Finance Company for one of the short-term loans she turned to when she needed help squeezing through a tight spot or making the holidays as merry as possible. If Doug had any objections, the family’s main breadwinner wasn’t listening to him. So when Christmas morning dawned in 1964, the precious instrument was waiting right where Bruce knew it would be, just beneath the lights decorating the lower boughs of the Springsteens’ Christmas tree.

• • •

His room equipped with the Kent and a small amplifier, the fifteen-year-old felt wired. When he got home from school, he ran upstairs to his room, shut the door tight, strapped the guitar over his shoulder, snapped the amp’s power switch, hit a chord, and boom: instant glory. “It was just, door closed, and you’re in there, doing your jam,” he says. “I had a pretty decent ear, so that helped. And then I developed quick, so that helped too, once I got just a little bit of the mechanics in.” Working through the chords, then the simple guitar solo from the Beatles’ arrangement of the Isley Brothers’ “Twist and Shout.” Mastering the twelve-bar basics of rock ’n’ roll, then working into the pop realm, with its larger palette of chords and melodic possibilities. Sometimes he played to the mirror, watching his hands on the guitar’s neck and reveling in the instrument’s potential to serve both as a shield against his shyness and a bridge to carry him to the center of everything. As he told Newsweek writer Maureen Orth in 1975: “The first day I can remember lookin’ in the mirror and standin’ what I was seein’ was the day I had a guitar in my hand.”

Other kids were so entranced by the rock band image—the blithe rebelliousness magnified by the power of a group identity—they bypassed the music altogether in order to move straight to hipness, giving themselves a cool name and creating a logo to set them apart from everyone else. “It was magic in those days,” Bruce says. “There was no greater cachet. It was so good, people lied about it. I knew guys that had band jackets printed up with no band.” One guy Bruce didn’t know yet, a classmate at Freehold Regional High School named George Theiss, spent part of his freshman year as a member of the Five Diamonds, a pretend band linked by the matching green rain slickers they decorated with sporty black diamonds they hand-painted on their backs. As Theiss says, “One guy knew something about a guitar, but no one played.” Theiss bought himself a guitar, and with the help of his pal Vinnie Roslin’s older brother, learned how to play chords in an open E tuning. Theiss, a handsome kid with just the right facial structure to seem both menacing and mysterious at the same time, also had a strong voice and a kind of indefinable presence. Soon he abandoned the Five Diamonds to form the Sierras, an actual instrument-wielding band that featured Vinnie Roslin on bass and a guy named Mike DeLuise, who came with a Gretsch guitar just like the one George Harrison played. When another friend, Bart Haynes, showed up with a drum set, they could count to four and make something that, in certain moments, sounded like real rock ’n’ roll.

Still, the Sierras’ momentum ebbed. Theiss and Haynes teamed up with another guitarist named Paul Popkin, settled on a new name—the Castiles, named in tribute to Castile shampoo, the brand local teens seemed to favor—and began rehearsing in the living room of Haynes’s parents’ house. Because the Hayneses lived in a two-family duplex, and their living room shared a wall with the neighbors’, the constant thrum and pound of the guitars, bass, and drums soon got on the nerves of neighbors Gordon “Tex” Vinyard and his wife, Marion. Vinyard, then an unemployed factory worker, pounded on the Hayneses’ door to get the noise shut down. But when he saw the boys peering back from the Hayneses’ living room, his anger melted. Stepping inside to chat for a while, Vinyard got them to play another song or two, then started in on the questions, asking what the high schoolers were hoping to achieve with their music; whether it was just a goof or something they thought they could pursue with a professional attitude.

Whatever they said, or maybe the hopeful way they said it, charmed the older man. And whether the bluff thirty-two-year-old was looking for something to keep himself busy during his downtime or wanted to add some youthful energy to his and Marion’s childless lives, he told the boys that he’d like to serve as their manager. They could use his living room as a rehearsal space, and he’d provide as much musical guidance as he could, while helping to keep them focused, improving, and, if everything went according to plan, working. “We were there all the time,” Theiss says. “More there than home.”

Back on South Street, Bruce threw himself into his guitar with a passion and determination far beyond anything he had ever experienced. “If I wasn’t in school, I was either playing my guitar or listening to records,” he says. Playing six, eight, sometimes ten hours a day, he improved quickly. “It’s like science in the twentieth century, you know. Suddenly there it is, bang, and it’s compounding itself on a daily basis. It was that kind of musical development—like the big bang, only twice as big.” It took Bruce only a couple of months to gain enough confidence in his guitar skills to go looking for a band to join. A friend from the YMCA, where Freehold kids could play sports and attend dances on weekends, pointed him to a group called the Rogues, whose members were searching for a rhythm guitarist. Bruce brought his Kent and played through enough songs to win the job and then rehearsed with the group for just a week or two before he played his first-ever paid performance at a teenage dance held in the Freehold Elks Club. The band opened its set with “Twist and Shout,” the first rock song Bruce had taught himself to play.5 But it must not have gone very well, at least not for the new rhythm guitarist. The rest of the band rescinded his membership a few days later, declaring his Kent guitar “too crappy,” and sent him back home. “I’m sure I was pissed,” Bruce says, recalling his long trek from that last practice session back to 68 South Street. “I went home that night and taught myself the solo to a Stones tune, ‘It’s All Over Now.’ And that was it.”

But not for long, as it turned out. Because Bruce’s de-Roguing took place at the same time that George Theiss started noticing this cute freshman girl in the halls of Freehold Regional. She had dark hair, a beguiling smile, and a wicked sense of humor. And once he came up and started chatting with her, Ginny Springsteen kind of liked Theiss, too. They started dating soon afterward. “So I knew Bruce well enough to say hi,” Theiss says. “But it wasn’t like we were friends.” Whether Theiss had a role in recruiting Bruce for the Castiles is unclear. What’s certain is that the band needed a lead guitarist, and one day Bruce knocked on Tex and Marion’s door at 39 Center Street, just a few doors away from Caiazzo’s Music, asking to audition. He plugged in with the band and knocked out two or three songs, only to be sent home for not knowing any others.

When he came back to the next rehearsal (which might have been the next day), Bruce had not only mastered half a dozen other songs but also played them with such ease and precision that Theiss, standing just to the right of the new guitarist, felt stunned. “I just remember that Tex looked up at us and said, ‘Well?’ and we all said okay,” Theiss says. “Then I went up to Tex and said, ‘I’m still the lead singer, right?’” Vinyard nodded, Theiss let loose a sigh of relief—and the Castiles started a new chapter in their nascent career.

• • •

Once they were bandmates, Theiss and Bruce also became fast friends. Theiss, by then broken up with Ginny, now made a habit of dropping by 68 South Street in the mornings to roust Bruce and haul him off to school. Most days, this meant cooling his heels in the Springsteens’ kitchen, waiting for Bruce to emerge from his room. “He was always late, or not dressed, or couldn’t find his shoes,” Theiss says. “Then I had to wait for him to eat his bowl of Cheerios.”

When they finally got to school, Bruce went back into drift mode, floating in and out of classes as his interest and patience dictated. Some days he brought his guitar with him, and when his academic motivation ebbed, he headed toward the school’s band room, where he set up in a remote hallway and worked through a song or riff for hours at a time. “He’d sit there with his guitar and play,” says then music teacher Bill Starsinic. “Every once in a while, I’d have to say, ‘Bruce, you’ve gotta go back to class now,’ but he was very intense. Very focused. He wasn’t interested in academics or participating in the school band, orchestra, or anything else. He was interested in his music and himself.”

When Bruce did get swept up in a class, it had less to do with the subject than his feelings for the teacher, such as a relatively young English teacher named Robert Hussey, whose outsider perspective came to influence the stories and poems Bruce wrote. Hussey also projected an intellectual dedication and emotional empathy that made a deep impact on his bright but academically adrift student. In Hussey’s yearbook one June, Bruce’s admiration came through in a chain of superlatives: “This page is too small for me to write a fraction of the complimentary things I would like to say to you,” he began. “You have taught me things I could not get from any book. You have helped me understand people so much more than I had previously. You have gained my utmost respect and appreciation.”

When the Castiles’ eventual line-up gathered for their regular rehearsal sessions in the Vinyards’ living room, they made a distinctive collage of style. Clad in his button-up madras shirts and tight black pants tucked into calf-high Dingo boots, Bruce tiptoed the line between rah-rah and greaser. The glower-y Theiss dressed tougher, while clean-cut singer-guitarist Paul Popkin could have been a yell leader. Drummer Bart Haynes, a bit older at seventeen, existed somewhere in the shadows of Marlon Brando and an old-fashioned New Jersey wiseguy. “He was a classic sharkskin pants, pointy-toed, spit-shined Italian shoes with black socks guy,” Bruce says. “He had a sloppy, casual cigarette hanging in the mouth, eyebrows up, hair kind of slicked back, but it would slip down as he was playing. He had a ton of attitude. And, looking back on it, a sweet sort of way.”

Tex Vinyard did his part to make the teenaged Castiles even more diverse by recruiting Frank Marziotti, the twenty-eight-year-old owner of the Triangle Chevron station on Route 33 in Freehold, to play bass. As Vinyard learned when he had become a regular at the station soon after it opened in 1962, Marziotti moonlighted as the bass player for the Rolling Mountain Boys country band. “One day I was sitting in the backroom picking a guitar,” Marziotti says. “Tex walked in and said, ‘I got a group of kids, and I could use you to guide ’em.’” Marziotti agreed to do it, more as a favor to Vinyard than a career move, and when he turned up at the next rehearsal, he was surprised to discover that his pint-sized bandmates were actually pretty good. “I just slid right in with them,” he recalls. “No problems at all, and I certainly wasn’t feeling they were amateurs.” Marziotti was (and remains, he insists) most impressed with Theiss, both for his strong vocals and his distinctive way with the rhythm guitar. “He’d use an open E tuning, and barre chord it. And he was so good at it; I never saw anyone as good as he was.”

The lead guitarist, on the other hand, required more assistance, particularly when it came to chords. “Bruce was always a fast learner. You showed him one thing, and he came back the next day and showed you three.” Credit the fact that Bruce had no ambitions that came close to rivaling the call of his guitar. “I guarantee you that once I had the job, I went home and started to woodshed like a mad dog,” Bruce says. “I was in a band. I’d taken some, I’d gotten tossed out of [the Rogues]. But oh yeah, after I got in the band, I just listened and played all night. Every available hour and minute. And it was never work for me.” As Marziotti recalls, the guitarist took enormous pride in his progress. “He’d come back and show off to Tex: ‘Hey, look what I did!’”

Vinyard landed a job as a machine operator on the floor of the Peter Schweitzer cigarette paper factory, but full-time employment did nothing to dampen his enthusiasm for the Castiles. Together Tex and Marion became de facto parents to the boys in the band, with Tex guiding the rehearsals with a confidence that belied the fact that his own hands-on musical expertise extended as far as the knobs of his own radio. But he knew what sounded good to him, and if the boys weren’t getting there, he’d hold up his hand and call for changes.

“He really did run the rehearsals when we played at his place,” Theiss says. “He’d yell, ‘Stop, that doesn’t sound good! Do this, do that!’ Even when he didn’t know what the hell he was talking about.” What the Castiles knew was that Tex, unlike their own fathers, believed in what they were doing and wanted nothing more than to help. And if their own moms nagged endlessly about their hair, clothes, and grades, Marion was more than happy to be their uncritical den mother, busily whipping up platters of tuna fish and bologna-and-cheese sandwiches in her kitchen, laying out the spread with the case of Foodtown soda she kept on hand to ease the Castiles’ thirst.

The group’s growing repertoire leaned mostly on the AM radio hits of the day, with an emphasis on the harder-edged singles by the Rolling Stones (“[I Can’t Get No] Satisfaction” and “The Last Time”) the Kinks (“All Day and All of the Night”), Ray Charles (“What’d I Say”), and the Who (an instrumentally furious “My Generation,” with Bruce taking the lead vocal). They mostly steered away from the Beatles, unless you count the British group’s cover of “Twist and Shout,” to differentiate themselves from all the other teenage bands trying to scratch their way out of their parents’ garages and basements. Tex had his own commercial strategy, which was for the boys to master Glenn Miller’s “In the Mood,” Henry Mancini’s “Moon River,” and other jazz-pop numbers that would give the Castiles a cross-generational appeal. “Tex wanted us to get as many paid jobs as we could,” Bruce says. “But the [band’s] cards said Rock ’n’ Roll, Rhythm & Blues, so that was our image of ourselves.”

Vinyard also created—and paid for—the group’s onstage wardrobe, which began with black pants, shiny black vests, and white shirts buttoned up to the neck, then branched into frilly shirts and other showy garb. But it wasn’t long before the uniforms chafed against the Castiles’ rebellious skin.6 Bruce: “At some point, we just said [to Tex], ‘Yeah, we’re doing it like this.’ And the frilly shirts came off.”

Vinyard managed to book the band at a few teen dances starting in the midsummer, and drafted Marziotti’s gas station van to haul the amps and instruments while he drove the boys in his sky blue Cadillac. Tex monitored the sound from the back of the room during the set, using his thumb to signal “turn it up” or “turn it down” to each player. And when the show was over and the gear packed up, he piled everyone into the Caddy and took them downtown to Federici’s for pizza and the presentation of the night’s pay. Usually it came to about $5 a man, which was serious teenage money in those days. Vinyard took the same for himself, if only until the waitress came to pick up the bill for the boys’ pizza and soda. “Damn straight, we were making a living,” Bruce says. “Well, it was enough to not have to ask my folks for money anymore.”

The steady, if unspectacular, flow of cash also helped the Castiles (often with an assist from Vinyard’s wallet) to strengthen their sound with new amps, speakers, and microphones. They played about a dozen shows in the second half of 1965, the most memorable being a bizarre afternoon in a lockdown ward at the Marlboro State Hospital, where, according to Bruce, the master of ceremonies spent twenty minutes singing the group’s praises to the heights of the Beatles and beyond. “Then,” Bruce recalled, “the doctors came up and took him away.”7

But most of the shows were far more typical teen dance gigs held at the Woodhaven Swim Club, the Freehold Elks Club, the Farmingdale Mobile Home Park, and several weekend socials held for Bruce’s old classmates at the St. Rose of Lima School around the corner from his house. One night that fall, Adele put on her coat to walk her son down the block and to the door of the St. Rose cafeteria, where she paused to kiss him, and then watched as he stepped inside the door and toward his bandmates on the stage. Recognizing Freehold police officer Lou Carotenuto holding down a security post near the door, she went up to say hello. “She said, ‘Keep an eye out for Bruce, he’s going to be famous someday!’,” Carotenuto says. “I just thought, ‘Thank God for mothers. They’re the only ones who always believe in you.’” But then, Adele was a Zerilli, so her faith was automatically tripled by her sisters Dora and Eda, both of whom lined up with the high school kids to get tickets for the Castiles’ set at the opening festivities for the new ShopRite supermarket in Freehold. “Oh, I loved it,” Bruce’s aunt Dora says. “But even then he was pretty famous. To us, he was.”

• • •

And yet for Douglas Springsteen, it still sounded like noise. A screeching clamor from beyond the ceiling; the sound of his son’s tumble into the same trap his own life had become. When it bore down on him, Doug took the kitchen broom and used the handle to pound the ceiling beneath Bruce’s room to shut him up. “Because of the neighbors!” Ginny Springsteen says. “We lived in a duplex, and they were right next to us.” For his sister, for Adele, for Theiss, and for all the other neighborhood kids who knew Mr. Springsteen well enough to bid him hello when they entered the kitchen, the father-son static seemed par for the generational course. “Nothing happened out of the ordinary. He wanted Bruce’s hair short, and Bruce wanted it long,” Ginny says. She thinks some more. “Maybe to us it wasn’t that big of a deal, but obviously to Bruce it was.”

Doug may not have understood his son but he definitely feared for his future. He certainly didn’t know how to protect the boy from the hard truths waiting to greet him once he got out of school and faced up to the working man’s world. It had made sense for Doug to abandon his education to take up with the rug factory: the Karagheusian employee rolls touched nearly every family in town. But World War II had disrupted that career path, and nearly twenty-five years later, Doug still hadn’t found a career he could stick with. Once the very picture of a prosperous working-class town, Freehold saw its fortunes take a dark turn when the Karagheusians, who had once employed more than four hundred residents, abandoned Freehold in 1961, moving their factory to North Carolina, where labor came cheap. With the town’s other factories either gone or on their way out, and all the tertiary shops, restaurants, car dealerships, and so on collapsing in their wake, laborers like Doug were left to fight over the scraps. “It felt like the death of the town,” says Freehold native, historian, and journalist Kevin Coyne, whose own grandfather’s thirty-two-year commitment to Karagheusian ended with a pink slip and two weeks of severance pay. “There was a lot of bitterness. A sense of broken promises. Of loyalty unrewarded.”

Douglas Springsteen eased his pains with his cigarettes and six-pack. For him to see his son come up the back-door steps, guitar in hand, his long hair so unkempt, his clothes so flashy, and his youthful face so untroubled, whispering “Hey, Pop” on his way up to his room grated against the open wounds in his psyche. Needing to prepare his son to confront the bleak grind that had claimed him, Doug stiffened in his chair and asked Bruce to come back and chat for a bit. The music and applause fast fading from his ears, Bruce would lay down his guitar, grit his teeth, and walk dutifully back into his father’s charred vision of the world.

For years friends have wondered if Doug lashed out at his son with fists or an even more toxic form of psychological cruelty. The best-intentioned people whisper words like abuse and brutality. What got lost over the years is that Doug’s gruff demeanor was the thinnest veneer over his own torment. And while he was ashamed of his weakness and desperate to keep his oldest child from suffering the fate he’d been dealt, it was all but impossible for Doug to connect with Bruce in a meaningful way. So it wasn’t the lectures, criticisms, and occasionally heated arguments that cut into Bruce’s skin. It was the vacancy that swam into his father’s eyes whenever he came into the room. When Bruce turned toward his father hoping to see something—a spark of affection, pride, a glimmer of love, a nod of recognition, even—only emptiness stared back.

“It wasn’t in the doing, it was in the not doing,” Bruce says. “It was in the complete withholding of acknowledgment. It was in the vacantness.” The air seems to crackle, and it’s like no time has passed, as if the smoke and the alcohol fumes still clung to him. If only because Bruce has come to understand that the hurt in the room didn’t begin or end with him. “My father, in truth, was a wonderful guy,” he says. “I loved him. Loved him. But the drinking was a problem. On a nightly basis, every single day, an entire six-pack is not insignificant. I don’t know if the withdrawal came from that, or . . .” He trails off, glances out the window, and then shrugs. “I’ve written about it a little bit myself. I don’t know how much of it you don’t get. You get the gist of it.”

• • •

The Castiles rolled into 1966 at a good clip, playing a steady stream of teen dances, and then working into the battle-of-the-bands competitions that pitted local groups against one another in judged (if at times suspiciously) contests for cash and prizes that sometimes included opening spots for famous acts. Those bigger breaks didn’t always materialize, even for the supposed winners. But the shows did allow the aspiring bands to meet, compare acts, and build a musical community that went beyond their own schools and towns. When Bruce met a skinny, quick-witted guitarist from the Shadows at Middletown, New Jersey’s Hullabaloo Club one night, they didn’t have to chat long before he realized he’d met a rock ’n’ roll soul mate.

“The bottom line is that we were obsessed with the same levels of detail,” Bruce recalls. “If someone cut their hair, if someone changed their shirt . . . it was about everything the performers were doing, thinking, breathing, eating, drinking, and seeing. And there was one other person who understood the significance of all these events in the same way that I did. And that person was Steve Van Zandt.” And although Van Zandt’s mother and stepfather8 lived a half hour and cultural world away in Middletown (“Freehold was the home of greasers and inlanders,” Bruce says. “When you got closer to the coast, it was more upscale”), the boys still found a way to spend endless hours together listening to records, stripping them down to components, and analyzing what made each part distinctive, from the lead vocal, to the rhythm guitarist’s chord inversions, to the drummer’s contrasting hi-hat patterns. “Steve was the guy you went to—every deep rock fan has one—who you don’t have to explain yourself to,” Bruce says. “You don’t have to explain why you’re so worked up that on this record the guy used a different guitar than on the last one, and it’s a betrayal of all that is good! All that is righteous in the world! And why did he comb his hair this way, then comb it that way? No! No! The wonderful argumentative minutiae of rock ’n’ roll came alive and on fire when we sat down together, and that continues to this day. If I ever want to revel in the oversignificance of anything that’s going on or we’re trying to do, Steve is my man. He’ll explain it all to me. And the worst part is that even if I disagree, I know exactly what he’s talking about. I can’t dismiss his argument out of hand, because I know exactly where he’s coming from.”

The Castiles developed a small but devoted following in and around Freehold, including a collection of exactly forty-two high schoolers, most of them girls, who wrote and signed a petition demanding the group “get some recognition.” To wit: “The group has a sensational sound, and we protest against the fact that record companies and radio stations completely ignore these fantastic boys.” Such girlish enthusiasm was already wearing on Marziotti’s twenty-nine-year-old nerves, so when a moist-eyed fan cornered him after an early May gig at the Le Teendezvous club and asked “Are you Brucie’s daddy?” the bass player had enough. “I told Tex they could stand on their own now,” he says. Marziotti stuck around long enough to run the much more age-appropriate bass player Curt Fluhr through the basics of their set, then bid the group farewell.

Fluhr had been a Castile for less than two weeks when he accompanied the others to the Mr. Music recording studio in Bricktown, New Jersey, to cut both sides of the Castiles’ first single, a pair of original songs credited to Springsteen-Theiss. The A side, a high-spirited breakup song called “Baby I” with a distinct Carl Wilson9 touch to the guitar work, makes light work of its romantic brush-off, breezily informing its femme fatale that her faithless services will no longer be required, as the singer, “Got somebody new / Somebody better than you / Somebody who’ll be true.” But while all’s fair in adolescent love and pop songs, the flip side, “That’s What You Get,” anticipates a legion of Bruce’s subsequent songs, with gloomy verses in which one man’s lie of a life results somehow in the untimely death of his girlfriend, which shocks but doesn’t surprise the narrator. “That’s what you get for loving me,” he concludes in the chorus.10 What they got for recording the single added up to an impressive showpiece for friends, a calling card for bookers, and not much else.

The single also featured the band’s new drummer, Vinny Maniello, tapped to replace Bart Haynes when the older boy, then completing his senior year at Freehold Regional, joined the US Marines, hoping to earn a better rank and assignment for having enlisted rather than waiting for the draft. Haynes knew he was destined to wind up in Vietnam with a rifle in his hands, but when he came home for a post–boot camp break, he made it all seem like just another goof, wearing his corporal’s uniform with all the authority of a kid on Halloween. “He was a tough kid, kind of drawn by happenstance,” Bruce says. “He was crazy, loose, and a very funny guy.” Handed a map of the world, Bart Haynes had absolutely no idea where to locate the obscure country for whose jungles and mountains he would soon be risking his life.

The rest of the Castiles spent the next year struggling to hone their music and work their way up into the better beach clubs, teen clubs, and possibly a concert stage or two, even if at the bottom of a dozen-band lineup. The concert bookings never quite worked out, but Vinyard did manage to land them a semiregular series of shows at the Cafe Wha?, one of the best-known (and now iconic) rock ’n’ roll venues in New York’s Greenwich Village. Almost all of their sets at the club took place during the afternoon shows presented for the city’s teenagers. But playing the same stage that helped launch both Bob Dylan and Jimi Hendrix, the latter of whom had played the club just months earlier, was no small thing. So while most of the area’s other Beatlemania-bred bands had either surrendered their ambitions or broken up, the Castiles had evolved into a solidly professional unit, thanks equally to Bruce’s ever-improving chops, Theiss’s growing poise as a front man, and the strong three-way harmonies by Theiss, Popkin, and Bruce. The addition of organist Bob Alfano, who had mastered the swirling blues-meets-gospel favored by California’s new breed of psychedelic rockers, gave the band an even more complex sound.

As 1966 gave way to 1967, and the once shaggy youth culture tipped toward full-blown psychedelia, the Castiles all kept pace. Bruce’s wardrobe took on wild colors and flowery designs, while his black curls grew into a curtain over his eyes and a waterfall down his shoulders and neck. An eager student of the rock ’n’ roll performances on TV—the Who’s literally explosive (thanks to the firepower-hungry Keith Moon and guitar-splintering Pete Townshend) performance on The Smothers Brothers Comedy Hour was a huge eye-opener—Bruce took to starting the shows perched on a tall lifeguard chair, which he would leap from at some dramatic moment. He also added flash to the group’s Catholic Youth Organization show at St. Rose of Lima in April by rigging the stage with a strobe light, smoke bombs, and more. When they got to their climactic number, Bruce nodded to a friend to switch on the strobe and then ignite the smoke bombs. When the smoke cleared, Bruce climbed on top of his amplifier and used his guitar to smash a specially purchased vase of flowers into petal-strewn rubble. The kids roared, and the smoke-sheathed Bruce felt like a visionary psychedelic artiste until a few minutes after the cafeteria lights came up. That’s when his eighth-grade geometry teacher came up and patted him on the back. “Bruce!” he proclaimed, “that was very nice.”

Such displays of intergenerational warmth were increasingly hard to come by. By the middle of 1967, Freehold, like virtually every other crossroads, town, and city in the nation, had spiraled into opposing camps: parents against kids, hawks against peaceniks, traditionalists against progressives, whites against blacks, and on and on. So maybe Bruce shouldn’t have been surprised when he walked into Freehold Regional on June 19 to collect his cap and gown for the evening’s graduation ceremonies, only to be told that he would be barred from the auditorium unless he got his shoulder-length hair cut. Bruce turned around and marched out the front door to catch a commuter bus up to New York so he could spend the afternoon checking out bands in the Greenwich Village clubs.11

The crowning irony, of course, was that Bruce’s wild hair and clothes signified nothing about actual vices he might have had. Hobbled by his grandparents’ odd ways and repulsed by his father’s smoking and habitual drinking, Bruce treasured his sense of control too much to risk destabilizing himself with drugs, alcohol, and psychosocial anarchy. So while his hair made him seem freaky to his parents’ generation, Bruce’s stubbornly sober habits also set him apart from the hazy-eyed hippies he moved among. And while teenage Bruce could summon some energy for politics and the antiauthoritarian sentiments of the day, those interests were less philosophical than visceral. “It was very real,” Bruce says. “Generationally, everything was politicized. I didn’t know anybody who didn’t at least feign interest. If you didn’t, you had to adopt a pose of some sort.” And in Freehold, a nontraditional haircut and an untucked, flowery shirt were enough to put a target on your back. Even now, Bruce’s 1960s image is enough to reawaken suspicion among some former police officers. “He used to run the street with the rest of ’em!” says ex-patrolman (and subsequent chief of police) Bill Burlew. “He had the long hair; he used to hang out with [the] Street People [a known gang in Freehold].” When a chorus of disagreement rises around him in Joe’s Barbershop, Burlew can only shrug. “Ahh, maybe he was just a typical kid.”

As was the Castiles’ founding drummer and US Marines corporal, Bart Haynes, who on October 22, 1967, was on patrol with his unit in the Quang Tri Province when North Vietnamese soldiers let loose a shower of mortar fire on the American troops. Haynes was killed in the barrage, and when word of his death hit Freehold a week later, Bruce and the other Castiles found it difficult to absorb the shock. Particularly George Theiss, who only a few days earlier had a vivid dream about his friend. As Theiss told Kevin Coyne, his subconscious had concocted a ringing telephone, which Theiss reached out to answer. The voice on the other end belonged to Bart Haynes, coming through the static with one eerie message: “I’m all right . . . I’m all right.”12



THREE


AS MY MIND BENDS CLOUDS INTO DREAMS

AT THE START OF 1968, the Springsteens seemed to be on the upswing. Bruce was midway through his first year at Ocean County Community College (subsequently called Ocean County College), focusing his studies on English and earning good marks in his writing classes.1 Doug settled into his new job at the Lilly cup factory, which gave the family more financial stability and his days a sense of structure. Doug could trudge through days, even weeks, dull eyed but determined. Then he’d wake up tangled in his own sheets and barely find the energy to pull on a shirt and coat and find the door. That would pass, and with another dawn, he’d wake up on the ceiling and pinball through the next week, frantic and unpredictable. “With everything going on, we had no idea what was mental and what wasn’t mental,” Ginny Springsteen says. Her mother nods sadly and then alludes to an event that makes them both cringe. Adele comes back with another cryptic “Oh, and remember when . . .” but all they’ll share about that are rolled eyes and a few dark laughs. “He just wasn’t right,” Adele says finally. “That poor man.”

Sometimes trouble came out of a clear blue sky. One evening that winter the family was settled into their postdinner routine—Doug in the kitchen; Ginny, Adele, and Pam watching TV in the living room; Bruce headed up the stairs to his room—when someone out on South Street pointed a gun at the Springsteens’ front door and pulled the trigger. The bullet tore through the front door and smashed into the wooden bannister an arm’s reach from where Bruce was climbing the stairs.

What the hell? They still don’t know. Maybe it had something to do with the growing racial tension in town. Or maybe the work of a random madman or a joke gone terribly wrong. “I think the police came,” Bruce says. Whatever it was, he certainly didn’t take it personally. “I was a kid then, so I mostly thought it was exciting,” he says. “It was just strange.”

One Sunday morning a few weeks later Bruce fired up his motorcycle to give Ginny a ride to a friend’s house, dropped her off, and turned for home, the soft spring air in his trailing curls. He was nearly home when a man driving his son home from church in a large sedan failed to see the motorcyclist headed his way on Jerseyville Avenue. Bruce got tossed over the hood and landed headfirst on the pavement. When patrolman Lou Carotenuto got to the scene, Bruce was on the sidewalk, conscious but dazed and cradling the knee that now poked through his torn and bloodied jeans. “He was rubbing his knee, but he kept saying, ‘I’m fine! I’m fine!’” Carotenuto says. “Just like Doug would have done.” With Bruce’s eyes glazed, bloodied knee swelling visibly, and his responses fuzzy at best, Carotenuto called for an ambulance, which rushed the mostly unconscious teenager to a hospital near Asbury Park. There, the emergency room staff cut off his blood-soaked jeans and presented Bruce to an older doctor whose patience for beaten-up teenaged hippies had obviously run short.

Presented with a bloodied, semicoherent adolescent, the doctor glared at his patient’s shoulder-length hair and muttered that maybe the hippie deserved what he got. The physician stayed long enough to diagnose a concussion, and ordered that Bruce be held for observation and more tests. Fretting both about her son and the astronomical cost of hospital care, and then presented with a police report that set the blame for his accident squarely on the other driver, Adele hired a lawyer to prepare for litigation in case the man’s insurance company refused to pay. She learned quickly that their chances in civil court would improve dramatically if Bruce appeared on the stand looking like a clean-cut American. When Doug returned to the hospital with a barber in tow, Bruce screamed bloody murder. “Telling him that I hated him, and that I’d never forget,” Bruce recalled onstage during the 1980s. Even now Adele seems horrified to recall the episode, though they were just trying to help keep the family—and particularly her son—afloat. “Everyone was making fun of him!” she says. “But we felt so terrible. I never thought that he would feel that bad.” However, with three children to feed and all the regular bills to pay, the family needed the money more than Bruce needed his hair.

Then Ginny, in the midst of her senior year in high school, got pregnant. That her then boyfriend, Michael “Mickey” Shave, was a professional rodeo rider did not help her parents confront the social and religious stigmas attached to out-of-wedlock teen pregnancies. But Ginny’s predicament was by no means a first in their corner of Freehold, or in the family itself, so Adele took a deep breath and did what had to be done. The young couple were married in a small ceremony, the family had a party to celebrate, and the youngsters braced themselves for a premature adulthood that would test them both in ways that no teenager could imagine.2

Back in Doug’s midnight kitchen, one thought gripped him, then wouldn’t let go: he’d had enough. Enough family history, enough probing eyes, enough Freehold. Imagining sunny skies and a shore as far from New Jersey as possible, his thoughts turned to California, the traditional destination for East Coast refugees in search of a fresh start. “He just wanted to get out,” Adele says. “I didn’t want to go. I didn’t want to leave Ginny because she’d just had her baby, and I had worked for the same man for twenty-three years. But Douglas said, ‘I’ll just go without you, then.’” Sensing the desperation in his voice, Adele could not deny her husband’s need. So they agreed: it might take some time—probably several months—to save the money they’d need for such a big move. But they would go. And as Doug made clear, he was never coming back.

• • •

In late September 1968, Tex and Marion Vinyard invited the Castiles and their friends to what had become a regular party at their house: a joint celebration to mark the birthdays of Theiss and Bruce, born one day apart. On the surface, it was quasifamily business as usual: a big cake, sandwiches, chips, the usual array of Foodtown soda pop. The snapshots in Marion’s scrapbook—the pages titled “19th Birthday Party for Our Boys, George and Bruce”—reveal a house full of skinny, long-haired boys, all freshly washed and (except for Theiss) shaved, dressed in their nicer pants, ironed shirts, and collegiate sweaters. In one picture, a heavily bearded Theiss is a vision in late-sixties rock glamour, his shirt unbuttoned to reveal his naked chest, the arms of a willowy blonde draped over his shoulders. In another, a shirt-and-sweater-vest-clad Bruce sits cross-legged on the floor, bent over an acoustic guitar while a young woman gazes raptly from a respectful distance. Reminded of the disparity between the photos of the Castiles’ front man and lead guitarist, Theiss laughs. “Yeah, it’s pretty telling. That’s pretty much how it was.”

What doesn’t come through in the warm tableau is that the Castiles had broken up just weeks earlier. Perhaps the most surprising thing was that they had managed to stay together for so long. “We started out as little Freehold greasers, and we all ended up as long-haired hippies,” Bruce says. “We were all just growing up and changing. I do remember we had some feelings between us, but I don’t even remember what it was about. I was either starting to sing, or maybe we wanted to play different music.” Probably both. Deep in the thrall of singer-songwriters Tim Buckley and Leonard Cohen, Bruce had spent the winter filling notebooks with his poems, such as the dreamy “Clouds” (“As my mind bends clouds into dreams / That I like as the sun disappears into / The night I look and you have gone”) and the so-surreal-it’s-real “Slum Sentiments” (“Golden horses ride down the city streets / Starving children clutter beneath their feet / ’Cause they haven’t had enough to eat”). In “Until the Rain Comes,” Apollo himself thunders across flaming clouds in service of a revelation: “Upon reaching the ancient age of 18 I have found / What is round isn’t round at all, and what is up may be down.” All very deep and romantic, and just the thing for a young troubadour with trouble in mind and a guitar in hand. Heading into the spring with a new repertoire of acoustic songs, he had played a few solo shows at the Off Broad Street Coffee House in Red Bank, and felt an entirely new charge standing alone with only his guitar, voice, and innermost thoughts to offer.

At the same time, the Castiles, all graduated from high school and moving into college or the professional world of entry-level jobs and training programs, were losing steam. According to the rock ’n’ roll calendar, the split was more than due: teenage bands are supposed to be transient creatures. But even inevitable change can be jarring, and by the middle of July, Bruce and Theiss could barely speak to each other. Sometimes they bickered onstage. And at one mid-July show at the Off Broad Street, a fan took a picture that captured a pissed off-looking Bruce hoisting his middle finger to a visibly cranky, microphone-wielding Theiss. Things were clearly not well in the Castiles’ world. And that was before the Freehold police got involved.

It happened in the first week of August 1968. And while not every eighteen-year-old Freeholder had become enraptured by the drugs and weirdness that had become the definitive mark of their generation, the Freehold Police Department had already concluded that the stream of drugs flowing into town, and the enthusiastic consumption of same by young Freeholders, had grown to disturbing proportions. They weren’t exactly wrong. Marijuana had been remarkably easy to find since the summer of 1967, assuming you knew the right people. By 1968, those same people could also be relied upon to supply LSD, psychedelic mushrooms, amphetamines, downers, cocaine, DMT, crystal meth, heroin—the whole candy store. Naturally, the question of who was doing which drugs became a hot topic among the younger set. When some group of stoners started wearing necklaces strung with small, colorful discs (distributed originally as part of a cereal box game), you didn’t have to look further than a kid’s neck to figure out his or her drug of choice: green stood for grass, yellow was LSD, red for speed freaks, and so on. All good fun for the devil-may-care youth of Freehold until it turned out that one of their number was either a narcotics officer or someone yearning to become one. Once the cops knew the secret, the necklaces did the rest of their work for them. It took about a week for them to put together the names, addresses, and drugs of choice.

The police cars rolled at four in the morning. They hit virtually every neighborhood in town, the officers pounding on family doors in the middle of the night, flashing their warrants, conducting their searches, collecting what they already knew they would find, and hauling the young lawbreakers off to jail. By the time the sun rose, the entire town was scandalized. “They were all living with their mommies and daddies, and the police came and took them out of their mommies’ and daddies’ houses!” Bruce recalls with mock horror. “That’s in the middle of the night! Who had ever heard of such a thing? There had been no busts before! That word, the act itself, was unknown. People were shocked! Here in River City?” The drama made a big impact on the Castiles, largely because Vinny Maniello, Paul Popkin, and Curt Fluhr got nabbed in the dragnet. “All I remember is that I woke up one morning and half the guys were gone,” Bruce says. “George and I were on the outside and said, ‘Well, this seems like a good moment to call it a day.’”

A day or two later, Bruce happened upon John Graham and Mike Burke, a pair of slightly younger musicians (they were sixteen or seventeen) from New Shrewsbury. Just finishing an unsatisfying run with a blues-and-Stones cover band called Something Blue, the bassist and drummer were on the hunt for a singer-guitarist when they overheard Bruce talking about the big drug bust in Freehold. The three musicians chatted for a while, and when they got to their mutual love for Cream and the Jimi Hendrix Experience—the best of the psychedelic blues bands, and both three-piece groups—and with a replacement band needed for the Castiles’ gig at the Le Teendezvous club on August 10, it all clicked together. “I was ready to power trio, you know,” Bruce says. “I think we rehearsed a night or two and played that weekend. And then there was no looking back.”

Calling themselves Earth (shortened from the original the Earth Band), the trio—which performed as a quartet whenever the Castiles’ gifted organist Bob Alfano hauled his Hammond to a show—built a repertoire from the most popular works of Cream, Hendrix, Traffic, the Yardbirds, and Steppenwolf, whose just-released single “Born to Be Wild” became one of Earth’s big set closers. Specializing in such jam-heavy songs made it easy to play long shows, particularly given Bruce’s increasingly dynamic guitar work. Soon a pair of aspiring young managers named Fran Duffy and Rick Spachner convinced Bruce, Burke, and Graham to let them guide their nascent career and booked an assortment of shows to keep the band busy through the fall.

At the same time, Bruce, who still felt out of place in academic surroundings, surrendered to his parents’ pleas and registered for another fall term at Ocean County Community College. His new bandmates, both of whom grew up in a well-to-do town where education was taken seriously, helped keep him motivated. “They were smart, they seemed educated, and they had families that seemed educated,” Bruce says. “Those kids were going to college, which made them different than my Freehold buddies, who were going to Vietnam.” Crashing in the Graham family’s basement (where the band rehearsed), Bruce absorbed the leafy suburban zeitgeist of New Shrewsbury, and for a time tried on its expectations. Both Graham and Burke were enthusiastic readers and writers, so when they ran out of music talk, the three boys considered their literary futures. Temporarily fired up about his academic prospects, Bruce told his bandmates that he now planned to pivot from his two years at Ocean County and jump into the journalism school at Columbia University. Graham and Burke had no doubt that he could do exactly that. “He was very impressive and likable,” Burke says. “A very nice guy, funny, smart, and knowledgeable about music,” Graham says. “And onstage he was fearless.”

• • •

The administrators at Ocean County Community College felt less confident of their own futures. With so many other colleges and universities becoming battlegrounds of protest, dissent, and, sometimes, pitched riots, they feared the same thing happening at their own as-yet-unaccredited institution (those formalities were concluded in 1969), a prospect the school seemed far too fragile to survive. Hoping to stave off that calamity, the administrators decided to be proactive: they’d look for kids who seemed not to fit in with their peers, and then keep an eye on them. Not to control them or concoct reasons to eject them, of course. Just to make sure everyone was happy. And not planning to blow anything, or anyone, to smithereens.

Instantly, Bruce was on the school’s radar. “There were only a handful of us with long hair, and he was one of them,” says classmate Bo Ross. “We all sat together at one table in the student union, hanging around and talking.” Bruce, he recalls, didn’t say very much and wore metal-framed sunglasses with yellow lenses that made him look like an assassin. Usually absorbed in his own thoughts. Bruce impressed, or perhaps unsettled, the other students by abruptly filling a silent hallway with a burst of hoarse-voiced melody. Once again, he seemed so far out on his own wavelength that even the aggro jocks who so enjoyed bullying the hippie kids kept their distance. “He just seemed too weird to mess with, I guess,” Ross says.

Perhaps all that public strangeness was another performance—an encore of the routine that kept him so comfortably distant during his boyhood. But in the confines of his Advanced Composition class, Bruce felt free enough to throw open the doors to his hidden depths. Written neatly on college-ruled paper, Bruce’s short stories read like dark meditations on a world leeched of humanity. In one piece, the narrator spies a woman alone at night, “caressed only by the icy hands of the moon. She shared her love and was crushed by the greediness of those to whom she gave.” His teacher awarded the story an A and scrawled his praises in the paper’s margins: “Oh, Bruce, you have a lovely mind . . . at least what shows on paper.” Another paper earned another A, and praise for his use of imagery and metaphor but ends with a plea for more information: “Where do you want to go? Until I know your direction, I can’t help you at all.”

But Bruce’s most striking composition is also his most disturbing. Even his admiring teacher appended his/her A grade with a note admitting “I can’t pretend I enjoyed the story,” and for good reason. Starkly composed and washed in misery, the story describes a young girl, clad in a thin white party dress, attacked by a “faceless creature” that “beat her fragile body down upon the hard pavement.” Vivid descriptions of the girl’s wounds and the bloody shreds of her dress lead to a final image of the mangled girl dying slowly on the pavement, “[c]rucified upon the cross of night by the violence of man.”3

At some point during Bruce’s third semester at OCCC, he got a message in his mailbox: Could he make an appointment to speak with the school counselor? He did as asked, and as Bruce remembers, the conversation was extraordinarily personal and hurtful. “I was told people were complaining about me,” he says. “And to be honest with you, that’s all they said. It was weird. I said, ‘What about?’ but it was nothing.” In earlier tellings, Bruce recalled that his fellow students had gone so far as to circulate a petition demanding that he be ejected from school, on account of being too odd to countenance. But Bo Ross finds that story far fetched at best, if only because Bruce wasn’t the only student who received a referral to the counselor’s office. Determined to head off that dreaded student riot, the administration had sent the same request to all of the kids who spent their lunch hours at the cafeteria’s long-hair table.

“We all had an appointment,” Ross says. “And the guy was cool. He’d ask for our thoughts on certain things, and I kind of liked it, actually.” But for Bruce, who still swears the counselor described the petition calling for his ouster, it was another in a long line of school-based humiliations. “It kind of cemented my feelings that I was someplace I didn’t really belong,” he says. “And, really, I had the one [Advanced Composition] class that I was enjoying, and I did get some value out of it, because it did encourage me. And the rest was just another instance of, you know, it’s just not your time.”

• • •

Earth played a series of shows in the usual Monmouth County spots—Le Teendezvous, the Off Broad Street Coffee House, the Hullabaloo—through the fall, building enough of a reputation to draw crowds throughout the region. But although the group had played a semester-starting concert at Ocean County Community College in September, Bruce kept his musical life separate from his academic identity. Even his pals at the hippie table knew nothing about Earth, or Bruce’s ability to play guitar, until a friend of Bo Ross’s came in talking about this hot new band he’d just seen. “He was saying, ‘Holy shit, this guy is good,’” Ross recalls. And he wasn’t just talking about Bruce’s prowess on guitar. “What impressed him the most was that this guy got onstage and just activated everyone. He just had a presence.” A few days later another friend from the hippie table brought in a picture of Bruce playing with Earth onstage. “He looked great up there, too. And we thought he was weird, right? So we were like . . . wow.”

At the same time, managers Spachner and Duffy had secured Earth a gig at the famous Fillmore East theater, then the New York showcase for virtually every significant hippie/psychedelic band coming through the city. Bruce was already a regular concertgoer at the Fillmore—going alone, generally, to check out whoever was in town and absorb what he could from the bands’ musical and stage performances for subsequent adaptation and use—but on this day, the Fillmore was officially closed. The audience, such as it was, would be the cast of NYPD: Now You’re Practically Dead, an arty, albeit porny film that included a wild party scene set at a rock concert. Earth’s job was to play the band onstage, lip-syncing to a song recorded by a group called Rhinoceros4 while the actors and extras danced, tore off their clothes, and tussled and rolled across the stage around them. “So while we’re lip-syncing, the director’s giving direction to this hot babe to take off her top,” Burke says. “Bruce had this look on his face.” Later in the evening, the director took to the catwalk above the stage to film a midair sex scene punctuated at one crucial moment by a shot of panties tumbling through the spotlights to drape elegantly across the tuning pegs on Bruce’s guitar. The film was never released, but Earth still collected their enormous (to them) fee of $350 for the day’s work.

The band’s next (and last) New York gig was as half the bill in a December 28 show booked into the Crystal Ballroom, an 1,800-capacity hall in the Diplomat Hotel on West Forty-third Street. It didn’t take long for the promoters to realize they’d made a serious error: Earth was completely unknown in New York, and the fans it did have lived on the Jersey Shore. Facing economic disaster, the promoters came up with the brilliant solution of renting some buses and offering to transport Jersey fans to and from the show for free. When the OCCC activities committee agreed to help promote the shows, the tickets began to move. By the time Earth hit the stage on the twenty-eighth, the hall was nearly sold out, giving the trio the largest audience it would ever have.
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